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 Notes 

2025 

$ 

 2024 

$ 
Assets     
Current assets     
Cash 5 5,212,884  5,657,100 
Receivables and prepayments 6 16,980,338  19,625,253 
Inventories 7 46,581,119  48,274,853 
Investment securities 11 13,750,056  9,099,362 

     
Total current assets   82,524,397  82,656,568 
     
Non–current assets     
Receivables 6 13,495,088  12,223,196 
Investment in associates 10 19,027,754  17,910,711 
Investment securities 11 463,480  387,457 
Goodwill 9, 12 14,321,527  14,321,527 
Property and equipment  14 103,814,316  104,688,705 
Intangible assets 13 4,133  6,283 

     
Total non-current assets  151,126,298  149,537,879 

     
Total assets  233,650,695  232,194,447 

     Current liabilities     
Defined benefit obligation 22 344,742  344,742 
Bank overdraft 15 5,300,190  6,044,187 
Demand loan 15 1,454,444  1,404,590 
Trade and other payables 16 22,072,227  24,148,526 
Income tax payable 17 1,294,553  534,731 
     Total current liabilities   30,466,156  32,476,776 

     
Non–current liabilities     
Defined benefit obligation 22 4,289,992  4,342,827 
Deferred tax liability 17 5,782,978  5,807,652 
Demand loan 15 23,918,137  25,369,559 

     
Total non-current liabilities  33,991,107  35,520,038 
     Total liabilities  64,457,263  67,996,814 

     
Shareholders’ equity     
Share capital 18 60,296,860  60,296,860 
Reserves 20 50,607,903  50,136,545 
Retained earnings  58,288,669  53,764,228 

     
Total shareholders’ equity  169,193,432  164,197,633 

     
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  233,650,695  232,194,447 



S. L. Horsford and Company Limited  
Consolidated Statement of Income 
For the year ended September 30, 2025 
 

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 

 

 Notes  

2025 

$  

2024 

$ 

      

Revenue 25  186,665,000  161,914,423 

      

Cost of sales   (136,640,343)  (119,975,276) 

      

Gross profit   50,024,657  41,939,147 

      

Other income 21, 25  11,000,450  10,536,280 

      

Income before operating expenses   61,025,107    52,475,427 

      

Operating expenses      

Employment costs 22  (23,672,944)  (21,741,010) 

Building and insurance   (6,110,143)  (5,742,908) 

Depreciation and amortisation 13, 14  (4,202,261)  (4,130,116) 

Selling and distribution costs   (3,905,611)  (3,348,272) 

Office expenses   (3,551,482)  (2,531,017) 

Other expenses   (1,703,388)  (1,512,850) 

Professional fees   (609,069)  (573,017) 

Impairment loss of financial assets, net 6  (74,787)  (55,430) 

      

   (43,829,685)  (39,634,620) 

      

Operating profit    17,195,422  12,840,807 

      

Share of income of associated companies 10  2,461,798  1,425,740 

      

Finance charges  15  (1,037,788)  (272,647) 

      

Profit before income tax   18,619,432  13,993,900 

      

Income tax expense 17  (4,772,190)  (2,655,512) 

      

Profit for the year   13,847,242  11,338,388 

      

Earnings per share 19  0.23  0.19 
 
 

 
 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

 



S. L. Horsford and Company Limited  
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended September 30, 2025 
 

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 

 

 Notes  

2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 

     

Profit for the year   13,847,242 11,338,388 

     

Other comprehensive income     

     

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss     

     
Fair value gains/(losses) of financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income 11, 20  76,023 (99,162) 

     
Share in other comprehensive gains/(losses) of associated 

companies 10  395,335 (38,291) 

     
Effect of change in income tax rate to remeasurement gain on the 

defined benefit obligation and revaluation reserve for 
property 17, 20  – 562,943 

     

Total other comprehensive income   471,358 425,490 

     

Total comprehensive income for the year   14,318,600 11,763,878 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

 

 



S. L. Horsford and Company Limited  
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended September 30, 2025 
 

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 

 

 Notes 

 

Share capital 

$  

Reserves 

$  

Retained 

earnings 

$ 

 

Total 

$ 
          
Balance at September 30, 2023   60,296,860  49,711,055  51,577,372  161,585,287 
          
Comprehensive income          
Profit for the year   –  –  11,338,388  11,338,388 
          
Other comprehensive income   –  425,490  –  425,490 
          

Transaction with owners          
Dividends  18  –  –  (9,151,532)  (9,151,532) 
          
Balance at September 30, 2024   60,296,860  50,136,545  53,764,228  164,197,633 
          
Comprehensive income          
Profit for the year   –  –  13,847,242  13,847,242 
          
Other comprehensive income     471,358  –  471,358 
          
Transaction with owners          
Dividends  18  –  –  (9,322,801)  (9,322,801) 
          
Balance at September 30, 2025   60,296,860  50,607,903  58,288,669  169,193,432 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



S. L. Horsford and Company Limited  
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended September 30, 2025 
 

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 

 

 

 

 

 Notes  
2025 

$  
2024 

$ 
      

Cash flows from operating activities      

Profit before income tax   18,619,432  13,993,900 
Items not affecting cash:      

Depreciation and amortisation 13, 14  4,202,261  4,130,116 
Interest expense 15  1,037,788  272,647 
Retirement expense 22  194,402  435,424 
Provision for/(reversal of) inventory obsolescence 7  85,612  (156,490) 
Impairment loss of financial assets, net 6  74,787  55,430 
Fair value (gains)/losses on FVTPL investment 

securities 
11 

 (158,270) 
 

44,874 
Gain on sale of property and equipment 21  (136,959)  (249,268) 
Interest income on FVTPL investment securities   (464,353)  (228,336) 
Share of income of associated companies 10  (2,461,798)  (1,425,740) 

      
Operating profit before working capital changes   20,992,902  16,872,557 
      

Decrease/(increase) in receivables and prepayments   1,098,236  (761,621) 

Decrease/(increase) in inventories   1,608,122  (2,514,566) 

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables   (2,076,299)  1,525,018 
      
Net cash generated from operations   21,622,961  15,121,388 
      
Pension contribution paid 22  (247,237)  (224,232) 

Income tax paid 17  (4,037,042)  (3,602,573) 
      
Net cash from operating activities   17,338,682  11,294,583 
      
Cash flows (used in)/from investing activities      

Dividends received   1,940,090  1,610,060 

Proceeds from sale of investment securities 11  1,746,831  5,409,361 

Proceeds from disposals of property and equipment   749,741  705,858 

Interest income on FVTPL investment securities received   476,508  206,357 

Purchase of intangible asset 13  –  (6,451) 

Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired 9  –  (26,308,571) 

Purchase of property and equipment  14  (3,938,504)  (4,713,125) 

Purchase of investment securities   (6,251,410)  (14,531,618) 
      
Net cash used in investing activities   (5,276,744)  (37,628,129) 
      
Balance carried forward   12,061,938  (26,333,546) 



S. L. Horsford and Company Limited  
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows …continued 
For the year ended September 30, 2025 
 

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

 Notes  
2025 

$  
2024 

$ 
      

Balance brought forward   12,061,938  (26,333,546) 
      
Cash flows (used in)/from financing activities      

Proceeds from borrowing 15  –  27,000,000 

Interest paid   (1,037,788)  (272,647) 

Repayments of borrowings, net   (1,401,568)  (225,851) 

Dividends paid 18  (9,322,801)  (9,151,532) 
      
Net cash (used in)/from financing activities   (11,762,157)  17,349,970 
      
Net increase/(decrease) in cash, net of bank overdraft   299,781  (8,983,576) 
      
Net (bank overdraft)/cash at beginning of year   (387,087)  8,596,489 
      
Net bank overdraft at end of year   (87,306)  (387,087) 
      
Represented by      

Cash 5  5,212,884  5,657,100 

Bank overdraft 15  (5,300,190)  (6,044,187) 
      
   (87,306)  (387,087) 



S. L. Horsford and Company Limited  
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2025 
 

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 

 

(1) 

1 Nature of operations  

 
S. L. Horsford and Company Limited (known locally as Horsfords) or (the “Company”) is a diversified trading 

company which deals principally in building materials and general merchandise, hardware items, food and 

other consumable items, motor vehicles and spare parts. The Company is also engaged in the sale of petrol 

products. 

  

The Company is a diversified trading company and details of its subsidiaries and associated companies, and 

their main activities are set out in Note 9 and 10, respectively. 

 

 

2 General information, statement of compliance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by 

the IASB and going concern assumption 
 

The Company was incorporated as a Private Limited Company on January 31, 1912 under the provisions of 

the Companies Act 1884, (No. 20 of 1884) of the Leeward Islands. By Special Resolution dated July 30, 1990, 

the Company was converted into a Public Company. 

 

In accordance with the provisions of The Companies Act (No. 22 of 1996), of the Laws of St Kitts and Nevis, 

the Company was re-registered as a Company with Limited Liability with its registered office located at 

Independence Square West, Basseterre, St Kitts, West Indies. 

 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are the financial statements of the Company and its 

subsidiaries (collectively referred as “Group”) have been prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting 

Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) applicable to companies 

reporting under IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the IASB on a historical cost basis, as modified by 

the revaluation of land and buildings and investment securities, which are carried at fair value.  The 

consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the assumption that the Group operates on a going 

concern basis.  The measurement bases are fully described in the material accounting policy information. 

 

 

3 Changes in accounting policies 

 
New and revised standards that are effective for annual periods beginning on or after October 1, 2024 
 
Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been published that became 

effective during the current financial year. The Group has assessed the relevance of all such new interpretations 

and amendments as follows:  

 

• Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1); 

• Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments to IFRS 16); 

• Supplier Finance Arrangements (Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7); and 

• Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (Amendments to IAS 1). 
 

These amendments either do not impact or have no significant impact on these consolidated financial 

statements and therefore the disclosures have not been made. Accordingly, the Group has made no changes to 

its accounting policies in 2025.  



S. L. Horsford and Company Limited  
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2025 
 

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 

 

(2) 

3 Changes in accounting policies …continued 
 
Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not 
been adopted early by the Group for the financial year beginning October 1, 2024 
 

At the date of authorization of these consolidated financial statements, certain new standards and amendments 

have been published by the IASB that are not yet effective and have not been adopted early by the Group. 

Management anticipates that all relevant pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policies 

for the first period beginning on or after the effective date of the pronouncement. These new standards, and 

interpretations are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

 

 

4 Material accounting policy information 
 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the material accounting policy information and 

measurement bases summarized below. 

 

a) Basis of consolidation 

 

The Group financial statements consolidate those of the parent company and all of its subsidiaries as at 

September 30, 2025.  The parent controls a subsidiary if it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns 

from its involvement with the subsidiary and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over 

the subsidiary. All subsidiaries have a reporting date of September 30. 

 

All transactions and balances between the Group companies are eliminated on consolidation, including 

unrealised gains and losses on transactions between Group companies.  Where unrealised losses on intra-

group asset sales are reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment from a 

group perspective. Amounts reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where 

necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group. 

 

Profit or loss and other comprehensive income of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are 

recognised from the effective date of acquisition, or up to the effective date of disposal, as applicable. 

 

Non-controlling interests, presented as part of equity, represent the portion of a subsidiary’s profit or loss 

and net assets that is not held by the Group. The Group attributes total comprehensive income or loss of 

subsidiaries between the owners of the parent and the non-controlling interests based on their respective 

ownership interests. 

 

b) Business combination 

 

The Group applies the acquisition method in accounting for business combinations. The consideration 

transferred by the Group to obtain control of a subsidiary is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date 

fair values of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group, which 

includes the fair value of any asset or liability arising from a contingent consideration arrangement. 

Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred.  



S. L. Horsford and Company Limited  
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2025 
 

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 

 

(3) 

4 Material accounting policy information …continued 
 

b) Business combination …continued 

 

If the Group acquires a controlling interest in a business in which it previously held an equity interest, that 

equity interest is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date with any resulting gain or loss recognised 

in profit or loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate. 

 

Consideration transferred as part of a business combination does not include amounts related to the 

settlement of pre-existing relationships. The gain or loss on the settlement of any pre-existing relationship 

is recognised in profit or loss. 

 

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are measured at their acquisition-date fair values. 

 

c) Investment in associates 

 

Associates are those entities over which the Group is able to exert significant influence, but which are not 

subsidiaries. They are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity method, the investment in 

an associate is initially recognised at cost and subsequently adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s 

share of net assets of the associate since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the associate is included 

in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment. 

 

The consolidated statement of income reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the 

associate. Any change in other comprehensive income of those investees is presented as part of the 

Group’s other comprehensive income. In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in 

the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the 

consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions 

between the Group and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate. 

 

The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of an associate is shown on the face of the consolidated 

statement of income. When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with 

those of the Group. 

 

d) Foreign currency translation 

 

(i) Functional and presentation currency 

 

Items included in the consolidated financial statements are measured using the currency of the 

primary economic environment in which the Group operates (the “functional currency”).  The 

consolidated financial statements are presented in Eastern Caribbean dollars, which is the Group’s 

functional and presentation currency. 

 

(ii) Foreign currency transactions and balances 

 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the Group, using the 

exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions (spot exchange rate).  Foreign currency gains 

and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the remeasurement of monetary 

items denominated in foreign currency at year-end exchange rates are recognised in the consolidated 

statement of income. 



S. L. Horsford and Company Limited  
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2025 
 

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 

 

(4) 

4 Material accounting policy information …continued 
 

e) Segment reporting 

 

The Group has four main operating segments: Durable Goods, Automotive, Consumable Goods and 

Others. The executive directors monitor the operating results of its business for the purpose of making 

decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment.  For management purpose, the Group is 

organized into business units based on its products as follows: 

 

• Durable goods – sale of building materials, hardware, furniture and appliances; 

• Automotive – sale of cars, car spares, car servicing and car rental income; 

• Consumable goods – sale of food, related grocery items and gasoline; and 

• Others – sale of items not included in the above.  

 

Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each requires different marketing approaches 

and other resources. All inter-segment transfers are carried out at cost. 

 

For management purposes, the Group uses the same measurement policies as those used in its 

consolidated financial statements. Income taxes are managed and computed on a company-wide basis and 

are not allocated to operating segments.  The Board of Directors monitors the operating results of its 

business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and performance 

assessment.  

 

f) Revenue recognition 

 

The Group principally derives its revenue from sales to third parties, rendering of services, interest income, 

dividends and rentals. 

 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable, excluding sales taxes, 

rebates, and trade discounts.  To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Company follows a 5-step 

process: 

 

1. Identifying the contract with a customer; 

2. Identifying the performance obligations; 

3. Determining the transaction price; 

4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations; and 

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied. 

 

For Step 1 to be achieved, the following five criteria must be present: 

• the parties to the contract have approved the contract either in writing, orally or in accordance with 

other customary business practices; 

• each party’s rights regarding the goods or services to be transferred or performed can be identified; 

• the payment terms for the goods or services to be transferred or performed can be identified; 

• the contract has commercial substance (i.e., the risk, timing or amount of the future cash flows is 

expected to change as a result of the contract); and 

• collection of the consideration in exchange of the goods and services is probable. 

 

  



S. L. Horsford and Company Limited  
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2025 
 

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 

 

(5) 

4 Material accounting policy information …continued 
 

f) Revenue recognition …continued 
 

The Group derives revenue from sale of goods and rendering of services is either at point in time or 

overtime, when (or as) the Group satisfies performance obligations by rendering the promised services to 

its customers.   
 

A performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time unless it meets one of the following criteria, in 

which case it is satisfied over time: 

 

• the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s 

performance as the Group performs; 

• the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created 

or enhanced; and, 

• the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the entity 

has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date. 
 
The transaction price allocated to performance obligations satisfied at a point in time is recognised as 
revenue when control of the goods or services transfers to the customer.  If the performance obligation is 
satisfied over time, the transaction price allocated to that performance obligation is recognised as revenue 
as the performance obligation is satisfied. 

 
The Group’s revenue recognition criteria are outlined below. 
 
Sales of durable, automotive and other consumer goods 
Revenue from the sale of durable, automotive and other consumer goods is recognised when the Group 
transfers control of the assets to the customer and the amounts can be measured reliably. Invoices for goods 
or services transferred are due upon receipt by the customer. These revenues are recognised at a point in 
time. 
 
Interest income 
Interest income is recognised on the accrual basis, using the effective interest method, unless collectability 
is in doubt.  Interest income is recognised over time. 
 
Dividend income 
Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment is established. 
 
Rental income 
Rental income arising from operating leases on buildings is accounted for on the straight-line basis over 
the lease terms. Rent and lease income are recognised over time. 
 
Other income 
Other income earned from non-routine services and miscellaneous transactions are categorised as other 
revenue and recognised on the accrual basis. 

 

g) Expenses 

 

Expenses are recognised in the consolidated statement of income upon utilisation of the service or as 

incurred.  



S. L. Horsford and Company Limited  
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2025 
 

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 

 

(6) 

4 Material accounting policy information …continued 
 

h) Goodwill 

 

Goodwill represents the future economic benefits arising from a business combination that are not 

individually identified and separately recognised. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment 

losses. 

 

For impairment assessment purposes, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are largely 

independent cash inflows (cash-generating units). As a result, some assets are tested individually for 

impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level. Goodwill is allocated to those cash-

generating units that are expected to benefit from synergies of a related business combination and 

represent the lowest level within the Group at which management monitors goodwill. 

 

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by 

which the asset’s (or cash-generating unit’s) carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, which is 

the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. To determine value-in-use, management 

estimates expected future cash flows from each cash-generating unit and determines a suitable discount 

rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The data used for impairment testing 

procedures is directly linked to the Group’s latest approved budget, adjusted as necessary to exclude the 

effects of future reorganisations and asset enhancements. Discount factors are determined individually for 

each cash-generating unit and reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and asset-

specific risk factors. 

 

Impairment losses for cash-generating units reduce first the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to 

the cash-generating unit. Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other assets in the 

cash-generating unit. With the exception of goodwill, all assets are subsequently reassessed for indications 

an impairment loss previously recognised may no longer exist. An impairment loss is reversed if the 

asset’s or cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount exceeds its carrying amount. 

 

i) Intangible assets 

 

Intangible assets are identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance. Computer software 

meets this description. Acquired computer software licences, upgrades to software and related costs that 

are expected to contribute to the future economic benefit of the company are capitalized on the basis of 

the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. These costs are amortised over their 

estimated useful lives at a rate of 33 1/3% per annum.  Costs associated with maintaining computer 

software programmes are recognised as an expense when incurred.  Computer software is assessed for 

impairment whenever there are indications that they may be impaired.   

 

Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits 

embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and 

are treated as changes in accounting estimates. 

 

j) Property and equipment 

 

Land and buildings comprise of mainly the warehouse, offices, and retail stores. Land and buildings are 

shown at fair value, based on periodic (every five years) valuations by external independent valuers, less 

subsequent depreciation for buildings. Accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated  

  



S. L. Horsford and Company Limited  
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2025 
 

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 

 

(7) 

4 Material accounting policy information …continued 
 

j) Property and equipment …continued 

 

against the gross carrying amount of the asset, and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of  

the asset. All other property and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost 

includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 

 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 

appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 

the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged 

to the consolidated statement of income during the financial period in which they are incurred.  Increases 

in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited to revaluation reserves in 

equity. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are charged against reserves directly in 

equity; all other decreases are charged to the consolidated statement of income.   

   

Construction in progress represents construction projects that are not yet completed and is stated at cost. 

This includes the costs of construction and other direct costs. Construction in progress is not depreciated 

until such time that the relevant assets are ready for use. 

 

Provision for depreciation of property and equipment is made using the straight line and reducing balance 

methods, over the useful lives of the assets. 

 

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation rates of other assets are as follows: 

 

Buildings 2% 

Vehicles 12.5%, 15%  and 20% 

Furniture, fittings and equipment 6.67%, 10%, 20% and 33.33% 

 

The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property and equipment are reviewed at 

each financial year end and adjusted, if appropriate. 

 

Property and equipment are periodically reviewed for impairment.  An asset’s carrying amount is written 

down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated 

recoverable amount. 

 

An item of property and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon 

disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss 

arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and 

the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the statement of income when the asset is derecognised. 

 

Upon disposal of revalued assets, the company has elected to transfer in full, the revaluation reserve 

relating to the particular asset being sold to retained earnings. 

 

k) Leases – Group as a lessor  

 

As a lessor, the Group classifies its leases as either operating or finance leases. 

 

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to   



S. L. Horsford and Company Limited  
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2025 
 

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 

 

(8) 

4 Material accounting policy information …continued 
 

k) Leases – Group as a lessor …continued 

 

ownership of the underlying asset, and classified as an operating lease if it does not. 

 

Leases wherein the Group substantially transfers to the lessee all risks and benefits incidental to 

ownership of the leased item are classified as finance leases and are presented as part of installment 

receivables at an amount equal to the Group’s net investment in the lease. Finance income is recognised 

based on the pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding 

in respect of the finance lease. 

 

Leases which do not transfer to the lessee substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset 

are classified as operating leases.  Lease income from operating leases is recognised in the consolidated 

statement of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 

l) Financial instruments 

 

(i) Recognition and derecognition 

 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the financial instrument. 

 

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 

asset expire, or when the financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A 

financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires. 

 

(ii) Classification and measurement of financial assets  

 

At initial recognition, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus transaction 

costs that are incremental and directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset 

such as fees and commissions. Transaction costs of financial assets are expenses in the consolidated 

statement of income. Immediately after initial recognition, an expected credit loss (ECL) allowance 

is recognised for financial assets measured at amortised cost, which results in an accounting loss 

being recognised in profit or loss when an asset is newly originated. 

 

When the fair value of financial assets differs from the transaction price on initial recognition, 

the entity recognises the difference as follows:  

 

• When the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset (i.e. 

a Level 1 input) or based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, 

the difference is recognised as a gain or loss. 

 

• In all other cases, the difference is deferred and the timing of recognition of deferred day one 

profit or loss is determined individually. It is either amortised over the life of the instrument, 

deferred until the instrument’s fair value can be determined using market observable inputs, or 

realized through settlement.  
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4 Material accounting policy information …continued 
 

l) Financial instruments …continued 

 
(ii) Classification and measurement of financial assets …continued 

 

Financial assets are classified into the following categories: 
 

• amortised cost; 

• fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL); and 

• FVOCI. 

 

The classification is determined by both the Group’s business model for managing the financial asset 

and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. 

 

Business model 

The business model reflects how the Group manages the assets in order to generate cash flows. That 

is, whether the Group’s objective is solely to collect the contractual cash flows from the assets or is 

to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets.  

 

If neither of these is applicable (e.g. financial assets are held for trading purposes), then the financial 

assets are classified as part of the ‘other’ business model and measured at FVTPL. Factors considered 

by the Group in determining the business model for a group of assets include past experience on how 

the cash flows for these assets were collected, how the asset’s performance is evaluated and reported 

to key management personnel, how risks are assessed and managed and how managers are 

compensated.  

 

Solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) 

Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual 

cash flows and sell, the Group assesses whether the financial instruments’ cash flows represent the 

SPPI test. In making this assessment, the Group considers whether the contractual cash flows are 

consistent with a basic lending arrangement i.e. interest includes only consideration for the time 

value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a 

basic lending arrangement. Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that 

are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and 

measured at FVTPL. 

 

Financial assets at amortised cost 

Amortised cost is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus 

the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest 

method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial 

assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.  

 

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 

through the expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset 

(i.e. its amortised cost before any impairment allowance). The calculation does not consider expected 

credit losses and includes transaction costs, premiums or discounts and fees and points paid or 

received that are integral to the effective interest rate, such as origination fees. 
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4 Material accounting policy information …continued 
 

l) Financial instruments …continued 

 

(ii) Classification and measurement of financial assets …continued 

 

Financial assets at amortised cost …continued 

 

When the Group revises the estimates of future cash flows, the carrying amount of the respective 

financial assets is adjusted to reflect the new estimate discounted using the original effective interest 

rate. Any changes are recognised in the consolidated statement of income. 

 

Financial assets at FVOCI 

 

The classification requirements for equity instruments are described below.  

 
• they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect 

its contractual cash flows; and 
• the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of 

principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 

At initial recognition, the Group can make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument 

basis) to designate equity investments as at FVOCI; however, such designation is not permitted if 

the equity investment is held by the Company for trading or as mandatorily required to be classified 

as FVTPL.  The Group has designated equity instruments as at FVOCI on initial application of IFRS 

9. 

 

Financial assets at FVOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.  Subsequently, 

they are measured at fair value, with no deduction for any disposal costs.  Gains and losses arising 

from changes in fair value, including the foreign exchange component, are recognised in other 

comprehensive income, net of any effects arising from income taxes, and are reported as part of 

revaluation reserve account in equity.  When the asset is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss 

previously recognised in the revaluation reserve account is not reclassified to profit or loss but is 

reclassified directly to retained earnings account. 

 

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of 

the financial assets except for those that are subsequently identified as credit-impaired.  For credit-

impaired financial assets, if any, the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of 

the financial assets (after deduction of the loss allowance).  The interest earned is recognised in the 

consolidated statement of income as part of interest income. 

 

Any dividends earned on holding equity instruments are recognised in the consolidated statement of 

income as part of dividends under the other income account, when the Group’s right to receive 

dividends is established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will 

flow to the Company, and, the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably, unless the dividends 

clearly represent recovery of a part of the cost of the investment. 

 

Financial assets at FVTPL 

 

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL.  
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4 Material accounting policy information …continued 
 

l) Financial instruments …continued 

 

(ii) Classification and measurement of financial assets …continued 

 

Financial assets at FVTPL …continued 

 

A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVTPL is recognised in the 

consolidated statement of income. 

 

(iii) Impairment of financial assets 

 

The Group uses the IFRS 9’s impairment requirement which is to use more forward-looking 

information to recognise expected credit losses – the ‘expected credit loss (ECL) model’ on its 

financial assets carried at amortised cost. Instruments within the scope of the new requirements 

included loans and other debt-type financial assets measured at amortised cost and FVOCI, 

receivables, contract assets recognised and measured under IFRS 15 and loan commitments and 

some financial guarantee contracts (for the issuer) that are not measured at fair value through profit 

or loss. 

 

Recognition of credit losses is no longer dependent on the Group first identifying a credit loss event. 

Instead, the Group considers a broader range of information when assessing credit risk and 

measuring expected credit losses, including past events, current conditions, reasonable and 

supportable forecasts that affect the expected collectability of the future cash flows of the 

instrument. 

 

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between:  

 

• financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial 

recognition or that have low credit risk (‘Stage 1’); and  

• financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial 

recognition and whose credit risk is not low (‘Stage 2’). 

 

‘Stage 3’ would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting 

date.  

 

‘12-month expected credit losses’ are recognised for the first category while ‘lifetime expected 

credit losses’ are recognised for the second category. 

 

Measurement of the expected credit losses is determined by a probability-weighted estimate of 

credit losses over the expected life of the financial instrument. 
 

The Group makes use of the lifetime expected credit loss approach in accounting for its receivables 

and records the loss allowance as lifetime expected credit losses. These are the expected shortfalls 

in contractual cash flows, considering the potential for default at any point during the life of the 

financial instrument. In calculating the expected credit losses, the Group uses its historical 

experience, external indicators and forward-looking information to calculate the expected credit 

losses.   
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4 Material accounting policy information …continued 
 

l) Financial instruments …continued 

 

(iii) Impairment of financial assets …continued 

 

The Group assesses loss allowance of receivables on a collective basis as they possess shared credit 

risk characteristics based on the days past due. Refer to Note 24(b) for a detailed analysis of how 

the impairment requirements of IFRS 9 are applied. 

 

(iv) Financial liabilities 

 

The Group’s financial liabilities comprise primarily trade and other payables (except government-

related payable), borrowings and defined benefit obligation. The Group has not designated any 

financial liabilities upon recognition as at FVTPL. 

 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value. Due to their short-term nature, the 

carrying values of trade and other payables, demand loans, and bank overdrafts approximates their 

fair values. After the initial recognition, interest-bearing loans are subsequently measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate amortization is 

included as finance charges in the consolidated statement of income, where applicable. 

 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled 

or has expired. 

 

(v) Offsetting financial instruments 

 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement 

of financial position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts 

and there is intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability 

simultaneously. 

 

Non-financial assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss 

is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amounts exceed its recoverable amount. The 

recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes 

of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are sly identifiable cash 

flows (cash-generating units).  Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are 

reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 

 

m) Cash 

 

Cash comprises cash on hand and cash at banks which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 

value.  Cash is presented net of bank overdrafts in the consolidated statement of cash flows.  Bank 

overdrafts are included in the short-term borrowings in current liabilities on the consolidated statement of 

financial position. 
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4 Material accounting policy information …continued 
 

n) Trade receivables 

 

Trade receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amounts less an allowance for any 

uncollectible amounts. An estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no 

longer probable. Bad debts are written off as incurred. 

 

o) Inventories 

 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes all expenses incurred in 

bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Costs are assigned using the weighted 

average cost method.  Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business 

less any applicable selling expenses. Adequate provision is made for obsolete and slow-moving items. 

 

p) Taxation 

 

Tax expense recognised in the consolidated statement of income comprises the sum of deferred tax and 

current tax not recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 

 

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, taxing 

authorities relating to the current or prior reporting periods, that are unpaid at the reporting date. Current 

tax is payable on taxable profit, which differs from the consolidated statement of income in the 

consolidated financial statements. Calculation of current tax is based on tax rates and tax laws that have 

been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

 

The Group follows the liability method of accounting for deferred tax whereby all temporary differences 

arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting 

purposes are provided for at the current corporation tax rate. Deferred tax assets are only recognised when 

it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which the assets may be utilised. This is assessed 

based on the Group’s forecast of future operating results, adjusted for significant non-taxable income and 

expenses and specific limits on the use of any unused tax loss or credit. Deferred tax liabilities are always 

provided for in full. 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to 

apply to their respective period of realisation, provided those rates are enacted or substantively enacted 

by the end of the reporting period. 

 

q) Equity 

 

Share capital represents the issue price of shares that have been issued. 

 

Reserves are composed of the following: 

• Capital reserves refer to the return on investments in line with the sugar rehabilitation and other 

reserves of the associated companies. 

• Revaluation reserve – financial assets at FVOCI includes any gain or losses on revaluation of 

financial assets classified as FVOCI.  

• Revaluation reserve – property is composed of unrealized gains and losses on revaluation of land 

and buildings of the Group and associated companies.   
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4 Material accounting policy information …continued 
 

q) Equity …continued  

 

• Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation comprises the actuarial gains or losses from changes 

in financial assumptions and the adjustment for the IAS 19, Employee Benefits, adoption through 

equity. 

 

All transactions with owners of the Group are recorded separately within equity. 

 

Dividends are recognised when they become legally payable. In the case of interim dividends to equity 

shareholders, this is when approved by the directors. In the case of a final dividend, this is when approved 

by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. 

 

r) Borrowing costs 

 

Borrowing costs are recognised in the consolidated statement of income in the period in which they 

incurred using the effective interest rate method. 

 

s) Employee benefits 

 

Post-employment benefit – defined benefit plan 

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment plan that defines an amount of post-employment benefit that 

an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of 

service and salary. The legal obligation for any benefits from this kind of post-employment plan remains 

with the Group, even if plan assets for funding the defined benefit plan have been acquired. Plan assets 

may include assets specifically designated to a long-term benefit fund, as well as qualifying insurance 

policies. The Group maintains a partially funded and non-contributory post-employment defined benefit 

plan covering all regular full-time employees. 

The liability recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position for a defined benefit plan is 

the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of 

plan assets.  The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the 

projected unit credit method. 

 

Service cost on the Group’s defined benefit plan and net interest expense on the defined benefit 

liability is included in employment costs. Gains and losses resulting from remeasurements of the net 

defined liability are included in other comprehensive income and are not classified to profit or loss 

in subsequent periods. 

 

Short-term employee benefits  

Short-term employee benefits, including holiday entitlement, are current liabilities, measured at the 

undiscounted amount that the Group expects to pay as a result of the unused entitlement. 
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4 Material accounting policy information …continued 
 

t) Provisions 

 
Provisions are utilized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 

event where it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 

settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

 

Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on 

the most reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including the risks and uncertainties associated 

with the present obligation. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow 

will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. Provisions 

are discounted to their present values, where the time value of money is material. 

 

Warranty provisions 

Provisions for warranty-related costs are recognised when the product is sold or service is provided to the 

customer. Initial recognition is based on historical experience. The initial estimate of warranty- related 

costs is revised annually. 

 

Customer loyalty programme provisions 

The Group operates a loyalty points programme which allows customers to accumulate points when they 

purchase products in the Group’s retail stores. These points can be redeemed for free products subject to 

a minimum number of points being obtained and other specified conditions. 

 

These provisions are calculated based on the fair value for consideration received and are recognised in 

the consolidated statement of income. Provisions are reviewed annually. 

 

u) Events after the reporting date 

 

Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Group’s consolidated financial position 

at the reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Post year-

end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements 

when material. 

 

v) Significant management judgment in applying accounting policies and estimation uncertainty  

 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards as 

issued by the IASB requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 

amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 

consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 

period. Actual results could differ from those estimated. 

 

The estimates and assumptions that could have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are as follows: 
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4 Material accounting policy information …continued 

 

v) Significant management judgment in applying accounting policies and estimation uncertainty 

…continued 

 

(i) Business combinations 

 

Management uses various valuation techniques when determining the fair values of certain assets and 

liabilities acquired in a business combination (see note 4(b)). In particular, the fair value of contingent 

consideration is dependent on the outcome of many variables including the acquirees’ future 

profitability (see note 9). 

 

(ii) Estimation of impairment of inventories 

 

Management recognises a provision for inventory losses when the realisable values of inventory items 

become lower than cost due to obsolescence or other causes. Provision for obsolescence on inventory 

is based on the assessment of the physical condition of inventory and the levels of obsolete or 

unsaleable inventory items on hand. Obsolete goods when identified are charged to the consolidated 

statement of income. The Group believes such estimates represent a fair charge for the level of 

inventory losses in a given year. The Group’s policy is to review on an annual basis the condition of 

its inventory. 

 

(iii) Impairment of goodwill 

 

In assessing impairment, management estimates the recoverable amount of each asset or cash 

generating unit based on expected future cash flows and uses an interest rate to discount them. 

Estimation uncertainty relates to assumptions about future operating results and the determination of 

a suitable discount rate (see note 4(h)). In 2024, the Group did not recognised any impairment loss on 

goodwill (see note 12). 

 

(iv) Estimation of useful lives of property and equipment 

 

The Group estimates the useful lives of property and equipment based on the period over which the 

assets are expected to be available for use.  The estimated useful lives of property and equipment are 

reviewed periodically and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical 

wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the assets.   

 

The carrying amounts of property and equipment are presented in note 14.  Based on management’s 

assessment as at September 30, 2025 and 2024, there is no change in estimated useful lives of property 

and equipment during those years.  Actual results, however, may vary due to changes in estimates 

brought about by changes in the factors mentioned above. 

 

(v) Fair value of land and building 

 

Management uses valuation techniques to determine the fair value of its non-financial assets. This 

involves developing estimates and assumptions consistent with how market participants would price 

the asset. Management bases its assumptions on observable data as far as possible, but this is not 

always available.  In that case management uses the best information available.  Estimated fair values 

may vary from the actual prices that would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting 

date (see note 14). Additional information is disclosed in note 20.  
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4 Material accounting policy information …continued 

 

v)   Significant management judgment in applying accounting policies and estimation uncertainty 

…continued 

 

(vi) Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance 

 

Management makes judgement at each statement of reporting date to determine whether financial 

assets are impaired when the carrying value is greater than the recoverable amount and there is 

objective evidence of impairment.  

 

The measurement of the allowance for ECL on financial assets at amortized cost is an area that 

requires the use of significant assumptions about the future economic conditions and credit behavior 

(e.g., likelihood of customers defaulting and the resulting losses). Explanation of the inputs, 

assumptions and estimation used in measuring ECL is further detailed in note 24(b). 

 

(vii) Fair value of financial instruments 
 

Management applies valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments where 

active market quotes are not available.  This requires management to develop estimates and 

assumptions based on market inputs, using observable data that market participants would use in 

pricing the instrument.  Where such data is not observable, management uses its best estimate.  

Estimated fair values of financial instruments may vary from the actual prices that would be achieved 

in an arm’s length transaction at the end of the reporting period.  

 

The carrying values of the Company’s financial assets at FVOCI and FVTPL and the amounts of fair 

value changes recognised on those assets are disclosed in Note 11. 

 

(viii) Valuation of post-employment defined benefit obligation 

   

The determination of the Group’s obligation and cost of post-employment defined benefit is 

dependent on the selection of certain assumptions used by actuaries in calculating such amounts.  

Those assumptions include, among others, discount rates and salary rate increase.  A significant 

change in any of these actuarial assumptions may generally affect the recognised expense and the 

carrying amount of the post-employment defined benefit obligation in the next reporting period. 

 

The amounts of post-employment benefit obligation and expense and an analysis of the movements 

in the estimated present value of post-employment benefit, as well as the significant assumptions 

used in estimating such obligation are presented in note 22. 

 

(ix) Estimation of current tax payable and current tax expense 

 

The Group recognise liabilities for current taxes based on estimates of whether corporate income 

taxes will be due. When the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were 

initially recorded, such differences will affect the corporate income and deferred tax provisions in the 

period in which the determination is made. Any deferred tax asset relating to income tax on the 

possible offset of losses for tax purposes and differences between accounting policies for commercial 

and tax purposes is recognised at current tax rates to the extent that it is probable that they can be 

utilised. 
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5 Cash 

 

 

2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 
   
Cash at banks 5,161,217 5,601,998 

Cash on hand 51,667 55,102 
   
 5,212,884 5,657,100 

 

 

The Group’s cash at banks is held with First Caribbean International Bank, The Bank of Nevis Limited, 

Republic Bank (EC) Limited and St. Kitts-Nevis-Anguilla National Bank Limited and bears no interest. 

 

 

6 Receivables and prepayments 

 

 

2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 
   
Installment receivables 23,117,876 20,876,100 

Trade receivables 7,923,036 7,959,793 
   
 31,040,912 28,835,893 

Allowance for expected credit losses (4,687,421) (4,720,654) 
   
 26,353,491 24,115,239 

Sundry receivables 596,311 4,978,203 

Prepayments 3,525,624 2,755,007 
   
 30,475,426 31,848,449 
   
Less: Non-current portion of receivables (13,495,088) (12,223,196) 
   

Current portion of receivables and prepayments  16,980,338 19,625,253 

  

 

Receivables include amounts due from associated companies and directors amounting to $323,777 and 

$32,614, respectively (2024: $1,082,848 and $17,362) (see note 8). The amounts are non-interest bearing and 

are due to be settled within 30 days. 

 

Sundry receivables in 2024 include the amount due from Jeld-Wen Inc. amounting to $4,590,595 to settle the 

withholding taxes payable on the loan that was forgiven and written off on July 26, 2024. The amount 

receivable was settled on November 22, 2024. 

 

The carrying value of receivables approximates the fair value. 
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6 Receivables and prepayments …continued 
 

 Allowance for expected credit losses 

 

 The movement on allowance for expected credit losses of receivables is as follows: 

 

 

2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 
   
Balance at beginning of year 4,720,654 4,719,137 

Provision during the year 105,796 60,062 

Provision assumed from a business combination – 40,984 

Recoveries of items previously written-off – 296 

Write-off during the year (139,029) (99,825) 
   
Balance at end of year 4,687,421 4,720,654 

 

During the year, certain previously written-off receivables amounting to $31,009 (2024: $4,632) were 

collected.   

 

The details of impairment loss of financial assets, net as presented in the consolidated statement of income 

are as follows: 

 

 

2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 
   
Provision during the year 105,796 60,062 

Recoveries of items previously written-off (31,009) (4,632) 
   
 74,787 55,430 
 
 
Installment receivables 
 
The Group entered into finance leases covering motor vehicles and household furniture and appliances with 

lease terms ranging from two to eight years.  Installment receivables relating to vehicles are secured by bills 

of sale, while the other instalment receivables are unsecured.   
 
The future value of minimum lease payments together with the present value of minimum lease payments of 

hire purchase and finance leases under instalment receivables are as follows: 

 

Future value of minimum lease payments 
2025 

$ 
2024 

$ 

   
Within one year 13,423,389 12,111,681 
Over one year but less than five years 19,638,189 17,737,258 

Over five years 2,912,247 2,645,714 
   
 35,973,825 32,494,653 
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6 Receivables and prepayments …continued 

 
Installment receivables …continued 

 

Present value of minimum lease payments 

2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 

   
Within one year 9,622,788 8,652,903 

Over one year but less than five years 11,573,747 10,478,474 

Over five years 1,921,341 1,744,723 
   

 23,117,876 20,876,100 

 

 
As at September 30, 2025, the provision for expected credit losses of installment receivables included a 

provision for uncollectible minimum lease payment receivables amounting to $3,697,602 (2024: $3,681,111). 

 

 

7 Inventories 

 

 
2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 
   
Merchandise 40,817,697 45,483,186 

Goods in transit 6,072,561 3,034,235 

   
 46,890,258 48,517,421 

Allowance for inventory obsolescence (309,139) (242,568) 
   
 46,581,119 48,274,853 

 

The movement in the allowance for inventory obsolescence is as follows: 

 

 

2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 
   
Balance at beginning of year  242,568 336,420 

Increase /(decrease) during the year 85,612 (156,490) 

Provision assumed from a business combination – 62,638 

Write off (19,041) – 
   
Balance at end of year 309,139 242,568 

 
 

 

 

8 Related party balance and transactions 

 
A related party relationship exists when one party has the ability to control directly or indirectly, through one 

or more intermediaries, the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial 

and operating decisions. Such relationships also exist between or among entities under common control, with 

the reporting enterprise and its key management personnel, directors and shareholders. 
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8 Related party balance and transactions …continued 
 

 Related party balances 
 

Amounts due from/to associated companies and from/to directors are shown as part of receivables (see note 6) 

and trade and other payables (see note 16), respectively, in the consolidated statement of financial position.   

 

The details of these receivables and payables from/to other related parties are as follows: 
 

 
2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 
   
Due from associated companies   

Carib Brewery (St. Kitts & Nevis) Limited 305,343 512,914 

St. Kitts Masonry Products Limited 16,859 568,969 

Port Services Limited 1,575 965 
   

 323,777 1,082,848 

Due from directors 32,614 17,362 
   
 356,391 1,100,210 

 

 

The Group has not made any allowance for expected credit losses in respect of related party debtors.  

 

A guarantee has been given by the Company on behalf of an associated company (see note 23(b)). 
 

 
2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 
Due to associated companies:   

St. Kitts Masonry Products Limited 602,732 318,832 

Carib Brewery (St. Kitts & Nevis) Limited 44,699 41,645 
   
 647,431 360,477 

 

 

Amounts due from and due to associated companies are interest-free, unsecured and have no fixed terms of 

repayment (see note 16).   

 

Related party transactions 

 

During the year, the Group entered the following related party transactions: 

 

Sales,  purchases  and management fee with associated companies 

 

 2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 

   
Sales 5,404,915 5,988,029 

Purchases 9,412,246 9,042,113 

Management fee 48,000 48,000 
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8 Related party balance and transactions …continued 
 

Dividends 

 

The Group also received dividends from its associates as follows (see note 10): 

 

 2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 

   
Associated companies:   

Carib Brewery (St. Kitts & Nevis) Limited 990,090 660,060 

St. Kitts Masonry Products Limited 750,000 600,000 

St. Kitts Development Limited – 150,000 

    1,740,090 1,410,060 

 

Key management personnel compensation 

 

The salaries and other benefits paid to key management personnel of the Group amounted to $1,930,530 in 

2025 (2024: $1,876,448). 

 

 

9 Interest in subsidiaries  

 
The Company’s subsidiaries include the following companies: 

Name of subsidiary 

 
Country of 

incorporation 
 and principal 

place of 
 business 

 

Principal activity 

 Proportion of  
ownership 

interests 
 held by the 

Company 
 2025     2024    

        
S. L. Horsford  Nevis Limited   Nevis  Retail activities and related services  100% 100% 

Ocean Cold Storage (St. Kitts) 

Limited   

 
St. Kitts  

 
Food distribution (wholesale)  

 
100% 

 
100% 

S. L. Horsford Shipping Limited    St. Kitts  Shipping agency  100% 100% 

Marshall Plantation Limited   St. Kitts  Investments  100% 100% 

S. L. Horsford Finance Company 

Limited  

 
St. Kitts  

 
Car rentals, car sales and insurance agency  

 
100% 

 
100% 

Builders Paradise (St. Kitts) 

Limited  

 
St. Kitts  

 
Retail activities and related services  

 
100% 100% 

 

 

There are no subsidiaries with a non-controlling interest that is material to the Group.  The Company has issued 

guarantees to certain banks in respect of the credit facilities granted to certain subsidiaries (see note 23(b)).  

 

The Group has no interests in unconsolidated structured entities. 
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9 Investment in subsidiaries …continued 
 

Acquisition of Builders Paradise (St. Kitts) Limited 

 

On July 26, 2024, at the close of business, the Company acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Builders 

Paradise (St. Kitts) Limited. The acquisition was made to enhance the Group’s position in the retail market for 

construction and building materials in the Federation. 

 

The details of the business combination is as follows: 

 2024 

$ 

  
Fair value of consideration transferred:  

Amount settled in cash 27,462,632 

Contingent consideration 768,565 

   28,231,197 
  

Recognised amounts of identifiable net assets  

Current assets 13,923,656 

Non-current assets 6,150,000 

Current liabilities (5,312,099) 

Non-current liabilities (851,887) 
  

Net assets 13,909,670 
  

Goodwill on acquisition 14,321,527 

 

 2024 

$ 

  
Net cash outflow on acquisition:  

Consideration transferred settled in cash 27,462,632 

Contingent consideration 768,565 

Cash and cash equivalents acquired (1,922,626) 

   26,308,571 

 

 

The acquisition of Builders Paradise (St. Kitts) Limited was settled in cash amounting to US$10,000,000 or 

EC$27,110,000. The purchase agreement included an additional consideration of $768,565 related to the 

income tax recoverable recognized by Builders Paradise (St. Kitts) Limited. The additional consideration will 

be paid upon utilization of the income tax recoverable depending on the final approval from the Inland Revenue 

Department. Management believes that there is a high probability that the income tax recoverable will be 

utilized. The additional consideration is recognized as part of “Sundry payables, provisions and accruals” 

included in note 16 “Trade and Other Payables.” 

  

Acquisition-related costs amounting to $352,632 are included in the consideration transferred and recognised 

as part of the investment cost. 

 

Goodwill of $14,321,527 is primarily growth expectations and expected future profitability. Goodwill has been 

allocated to the durable goods segment of the Group. 
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10 Investment in associates 
 

Set out below are the details of the associates held directly by the Group. 
  

Name of associate 

 
Country of 

incorporation 
 and principal 

place of 
 business 

 

Principal activity 

 Proportion of  
ownership 

interests 
 held by the 

Group 
2025       2024    

        
Carib Brewery (St. Kitts & 

Nevis) Limited  St. Kitts  

Engaged in manufacturing of beer and non-
alcoholic beverages.  20.1% 20.1% 

        

St. Kitts Masonry Products 

Limited  St. Kitts  

Manufactures and sells ready-mix concrete 
and concrete blocks for the construction 
industry.  50.0% 50.0% 

        
St. Kitts Developments Limited  St. Kitts  Land and property development  30.0% 30.0% 
        
Port Services Limited   St. Kitts  Stevedoring services  33.3% 33.3% 
        

 

 
The carrying amount of investment in associates as at September 30, is shown below. 

 

 

2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 

   Cost of investments 3,148,436 3,148,436 
Increase in equity value over cost from acquisition to end of year 15,879,318 14,762,275 
   
 19,027,754 17,910,711 

 

Movement in investments in associated companies during the year is as follows: 
 

 Notes 

2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 

    
Balance at beginning of year  17,910,711 17,933,322 

Share of associated companies:    

Profit or loss  2,461,798 1,425,740 

Other comprehensive income – Capital reserves  20 395,335 (38,291) 

Dividends paid 8 (1,740,090) (1,410,060) 
    

Balance at end of year  19,027,754 17,910,711 
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10 Investment in associates …continued 
 

The following illustrates the Group’s carrying amount of investment in associates. 
 

 2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 

   

Carib Brewery (St. Kitts & Nevis) Limited 8,831,731 8,563,492 

Other associates in aggregate 10,196,023 9,347,219 
   
 19,027,754 17,910,711 

 

The following illustrates the summarized financial information of the Group’s material associates: 

 

Summarized statements of financial position as at September 30, are as follows: 

 

September 30, 2025 

Carib Brewery 

(St. Kitts & 

Nevis) Limited  

$ 

 

Other associates 

$ 

   
Current assets 31,649,415  9,565,455  

Non-current assets 28,798,652  18,163,690  

Current liabilities (17,526,382)  (4,665,006) 

Non-current liabilities (1,938,497)  (1,086,027) 
 

  
Net assets 40,983,188  21,978,112  
   

Revenue 66,338,079  30,387,738  

Costs and expenses (60,085,139)  (28,010,146) 

   
Net income 6,252,940  2,377,592  

   
September 30, 2024   

Current assets 28,206,200 8,188,050 

Non-current assets 32,288,027 15,377,945 

Current liabilities (19,105,788) (2,997,620) 

Non-current liabilities (1,797,050) (848,939) 
   
Net assets 39,591,389 19,719,436 
   
Revenue 65,780,204 21,334,863 

Costs and expenses (62,235,828) (19,757,216) 
   
Net income 3,544,376 1,577,647 
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10 Investment in associates …continued 
 

The following illustrates the Group’s share of the income/(loss) of associates. 
 

 

2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 

   
Consolidated statement of income:   

Carib Brewery (St. Kitts & Nevis) Limited 1,258,329 713,263 
Other associates 1,203,469 712,477 
   
 2,461,798 1,425,740 

Consolidated statement of other comprehensive 

income/(loss):   

Carib Brewery (St. Kitts & Nevis) Limited – (95) 
Other associates 395,335 (38,196) 
   
 

395,335 (38,291) 

 

 

11 Investment securities 
 

 

2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 

   
FVTPL – debt securities    

Corporate bonds 13,750,056 9,099,362 

   
FVOCI – equity securities   
Quoted equity securities:   
Cable & Wireless St. Kitts & Nevis Limited   

90,000 shares of $3.75 each (2024: $3.03 each) 337,500 272,700 
BP AMOCO PLC (formerly The Standard Oil Company) 
Limited)    

1,354 shares of US$34.46 each (2024: US$31.39 each)  125,979 114,756 
   
 463,479 387,456 
Unquoted equity security:   

Federation Media Group Limited 1 1 
   

 463,480 387,457 
   
 14,213,536 9,486,819 

 

 

 
2025 

$ 
2024 

$ 
   
Current 13,750,056 9,099,362 

Non-current 463,480 387,457 
   
 14,213,536 9,486,819 
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11 Investment securities …continued 

 
Total interest income earned and fair value gains from FVTPL – debt securities amounts to $464,353 and 

$158,270, respectively in 2025 (2024: $228,336 and nil). 

  
The Group purchased certain investments securities of fixed income corporate bonds and mutual funds which 

are classified as FVTPL – debt securities purchased through First Caribbean International Wealth Management 

Bank (Barbados) Limited which are denominated in United States Dollars and are publicly traded. Bonds have 

coupon rates of 6.7% to 7.5% with interest payable monthly or quarterly until maturity. The bonds have 

maturity dates ranging from March 2029 to November 2034. The corporate bonds are being held for trading 

purposes, hence, they are classified as current assets on the separate statement of financial position.  

 
Movements in investment securities are as follows: 

 

 

Equity 
 securities –  

FVOCI 
$ 

Debt  
securities – 

FVTPL 
$ 

Total 
$ 

    
Balance as at September 30, 2023 486,619 – 486,619 
Purchases – 14,531,618 14,531,618 
Sales – (5,409,361) (5,409,361) 
Movement of interest receivable – 21,979 21,979 

Unrealized fair value losses (99,162) (44,874) (144,036) 
    

Balance as at September 30, 2024 387,457 9,099,362 9,486,819 
Purchase of investment securities – 6,361,993 6,361,993 
Movement of interest receivable – (12,155) (12,155) 
Unrealized fair value gains 76,023 47,687 123,710 
Sale of investment securities – (1,746,831) (1,746,831) 

    
Balance as at September 30, 2025 463,480 13,750,056 14,213,536 

 

 

12 Goodwill 

 
Goodwill arising from the business combination between the Company and Builders Paradise (St. Kitts) 

Limited during the year pertains to the difference between the total consideration and fair value of net assets 

acquired as shown below: 

 

 

2024 

$ 

  
Total consideration 28,231,197 

Less: fair value of net assets (13,909,670) 

   14,321,527 

 

The recoverable amounts of the Group’s goodwill has been determined based on value-in-use calculations 

using cash flow projections from financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period. The 

pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 3.5%. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are 

extrapolated using a very conservative steady growth rate of 1% which does not exceed the compound annual 

growth rate for the Group’s industry. 
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12 Goodwill …continued 
 

The calculation of value-in-use for the Group is most sensitive to assumptions on budgeted gross margins, 

growth rates and pre-tax discount rates. 

 

Gross margins are based on the types of products the Group sells.  Discount rates reflect management’s 

estimate of the risks specific to the Group.  This is the benchmark used by management to assess operating 

performance and to evaluate future investment proposals. 

 

Based on the value-in-use calculation, the carrying amount of the Group’s cash-generating unit and goodwill 

did not exceed its recoverable amount. Therefore, the Group did not recognize any impairment loss for the 

year ended September 30, 2025 and 2024. With regard to the assessment of value-in-use, management believes 

that a reasonably possible change in any of the above key assumptions will not cause the carrying amount of 

the Group’s goodwill to materially exceed its recoverable amount. 

 

 

13 Intangible assets 

 

 

Computer software 

$ 

  
Year ended September 30, 2024  

Opening net book amount 412 

Additions 6,451 

Amortization for the year (580) 

  Closing net book amount 6,283 

  At September 30, 2024  

Cost 209,533 

Accumulated amortization (203,250) 

  Net book amount 6,283 

  Year ended September 30, 2025  
Opening net book amount 6,283 
Amortization for the year (2,150) 

  Closing net book amount 4,133 

  At September 30, 2025  
Cost 209,533 
Accumulated amortization (205,400) 

  Net book amount 4,133 
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14 Property and equipment 
 

 

Land and 

buildings 

$ 

Vehicles, 

furniture, fittings 

and equipment 

$ 

Construction 

in progress 

$ 

Total 

$ 

Year ended September 30, 2025     
     

Cost or valuation     

Balance at beginning of year 97,368,087 34,220,525 121,449 131,710,061 

Additions ‒ 3,998,378 (59,874) 3,938,504 

Disposals ‒ (3,520,269) ‒ (3,520,269) 
     
Balance at end of year  97,368,087 34,698,634 61,575 132,128,296 

     
Accumulated depreciation     

Balance at beginning of year 3,320,198 23,701,158 ‒ 27,021,356 
Depreciation 1,230,744 2,969,367 ‒ 4,200,111 

Disposals ‒ (2,907,487) ‒ (2,907,487) 
     
Balance at end of year 4,550,942 23,763,038 ‒ 28,313,980 

     
Net book value  92,817,145 10,935,596 61,575 103,814,316 

     

Year ended September 30, 2024     
     

Cost or valuation     
Balance at beginning of year 90,630,690 32,232,099 333,867 123,196,656 

Acquisition through business combination 6,150,000 ‒ ‒ 6,150,000 
Additions 587,397 4,125,728 ‒ 4,713,125 

Transfer ‒ 212,418 (212,418) ‒ 

Disposals ‒ (2,349,720) ‒ (2,349,720) 
     
Balance at end of year 97,368,087 34,220,525 121,449 131,710,061 
 

    
Accumulated depreciation     

Balance at beginning of year 2,182,705 22,602,245 ‒ 24,784,950 
Depreciation 1,137,493 2,992,043 ‒ 4,129,536 
Disposals ‒ (1,893,130) ‒ (1,893,130) 
     
Balance at end of year 3,320,198 23,701,158 ‒ 27,021,356 
     
Net book value  94,047,889 10,519,367 121,449 104,688,705 

 

 

As disclosed in note 15, the Group’s land and building has been mortgaged to its principal bankers to secure 

bank advances. 
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14 Property and equipment …continued 
 

On September 23, 2021, the Company’s land and buildings were revalued by an independent property 

appraiser, Charterland, Charted Surveyors and Property Consultants. The independent appraiser provided the 

approximated market value of the land and buildings. The revaluation surplus was credited to ‘Reserves’ in 

shareholder’s equity. 

 

Additions subsequent to revaluation are stated at cost. 

 

If the land and buildings were stated on the historical cost basis, the amounts would be as follows: 

 

 

Land 

$ 

Buildings 

$ 

Total 

$ 
    
At September 30, 2024    

Opening net book value 4,141,230 33,124,593 37,265,823 

Acquisition through business combination 2,360,000 3,790,000 6,150,000 

Additions ‒ 587,397 587,397 

Depreciation ‒ (723,679) (723,679) 
    
Closing net book value 6,501,230 36,778,311 43,279,541 

    

At September 30, 2025    

Opening net book value 6,501,230 36,778,311 43,279,541 

Depreciation ‒ (791,173) (791,173) 
    
Closing net book value 6,501,230 35,987,138 42,488,368 

 

 

15 Borrowings 

 

 

2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 

Demand loan 25,372,581 26,774,149 

Bank overdraft  5,300,190 6,044,187 
   
Total borrowings 30,672,771 32,818,336 

 

 

 
2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 
   
Current 6,754,634 7,448,777 

Non-current 23,918,137 25,369,559 
   
 30,672,771 32,818,336 
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15 Borrowings …continued 

 
Bank overdraft 

 

 

2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 

   
The Bank of Nevis Limited  4,865,241 3,972,710 

CIBC Caribbean Bank (Barbados) Limited 434,949 2,071,477 
   
 5,300,190 6,044,187 

 

Bank overdrafts are secured by debentures executed by the Group totaling $56.4 million (2024: $56.4 million).  

The bank overdrafts bear fixed interest rates of 4.5%-6% (2024: 4.5% to 6%).  The overdrafts have limits 

totaling $13.4 million (2024: $13.4 million). 

 

The bank overdrafts are secured by the following: 
 

The Bank of Nevis Limited: 

 

1 First Registered Demand Mortgage Debenture dated December 30, 1975 creating a fixed and floating 

charge on all assets of the company, including uncalled capital and goodwill and a floating charge on 

all other assets. The foregoing debenture is stamped to secure $32,000,000 and ranking pari-passu with 

a debenture executed in favour of First Caribbean International Bank; 

 

2 Indenture of mortgage of all properties of the company title to which is held by Deed of Conveyance 

and which were not included in the debenture of mortgage above; 

 

3 Lodgement of Fire Insurance Policies which cover Buildings, Furniture, Fixtures, Equipment, 

Machinery and Inventories. In accordance with the terms of the pari-passu agreement, The Bank of 

Nevis’ share of any claim on these policies is 60% and First Caribbean International Bank Limited 

40% where applicable; 
 

4 Memorandum of Deposit of all certificates of title of S. L. Horsford and Company Limited not included 

in first registered Demand Mortgage Debenture; and 

 

5 Under terms of new debenture from the Company to First Caribbean International Bank, The Bank of 

Nevis holds all Certificates of Titles and Indentures of Mortgage in trust for The Bank of Nevis and 

First Caribbean International Bank in accordance with the Pari- passu arrangement. 
 

CIBC Caribbean Bank (Barbados) Limited: 

 

1 Equitable charge over 1,650,150 x $1 shares in Carib Brewery (St. Kitts-Nevis) Limited. 

 

2 Mortgage debenture registered and stamped for EC$31.3 million. This debenture ranks pari passu with 

the debenture held by The Bank of Nevis Limited. 

 

3 Assignment of fire and all other risks/perils insurance. 

  



S. L. Horsford and Company Limited  
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2025 
 

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 

 

(32) 

15 Borrowings …continued 
 

Demand loan 
 

On June 19, 2024, the Company obtained a non-revolving demand instalment loan with FCIB amounting to 

$27,000,000 to finance the acquisition of Builders Paradise (St. Kitts) Limited. The demand loan carries a 

fixed interest rate of 3.5% per annum and is repayable in one hundred eighty (180) monthly instalments of 

principal and interest amounting to $193,018. 

 

Collateral security for indebtedness 
 

1 Equitable charge over 1,650,150 x $1 shares in Carib Brewery (St. Kitts-Nevis) Limited. 

 

2 Mortgage debenture over the fixed and floating assets of the Company, including commercial and real 

estate property, registered and stamped for EC$21 million and an additional EC$10.3 million making 

an aggregate of EC$31.3 million.  This debenture ranks pari passu with the debenture held by The 

Bank of Nevis Limited.  

 

3 Assignment of fire and all other risks/perils insurance. 
 

Total interest expense related to the above borrowings amounted to $1,037,788 for the year ended September 

30, 2025 (2024: $272,647).  There was no unpaid interest as at September 30, 2025 and 2024. 
 
 

16 Trade and other payables 
 

 2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 

   
Trade payables 15,535,573 13,306,226 
Sundry payables, provisions and accruals 6,536,654 10,842,300 
   

 22,072,227 24,148,526 

 

 

The carrying value of trade and other payables approximates the fair value.  

 

Amounts due to associated companies amounting to $647,431 (2024: $360,477) arose in the normal course of 

trading are presented as part of trade payables. 
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17 Taxation 

 
Effective January 1, 2024, the corporate income tax was reduced to 25% indefinitely. 

 

Income tax is calculated at 25% (2024: 25%) of assessable profit for the year.  The charge for the year can be 

reconciled to the statutory rate as follows: 

 

 

 2025 

$  

2024 

$ 
     

Profit before income tax  18,619,432  13,993,900 
     

Income tax expense at effective tax rate of 25% (2024: 25%)  4,654,858  3,511,076 

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses  748,862  573,307 

Recognition of prior year deferred taxes on tax losses  ‒  (19,729) 

Effect of change in tax rate  ‒  (1,033,963) 

Tax effect of non-taxable income  (631,530)  (375,179) 
     

  4,772,190  2,655,512 

 

 
Income tax expense is comprised of the following: 

 

Income tax expense  

2025 

$  

2024 

$ 
     

Recognised in consolidated statement of income     

Current tax expense  4,796,864  3,799,943 

Deferred tax credit   (24,674)  (1,144,431) 
     

  4,772,190  2,655,512 
     

Recognised in other comprehensive income     

Effect of change in income tax rate to remeasurement gain on the 

defined benefit obligation  ‒ 

 

(54,067) 

Effect of change in income tax rate on the revaluation reserve for 

property  ‒ 

 

(508,876) 
     

  ‒  (562,943) 
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17 Taxation …continued 
 
Income tax payable 

 

Movement in the income tax payable is as follows: 

 

  

2025 

$  

2024 

$ 

     

Balance at beginning of year  534,731  1,142,947 

Current tax expense for the year   4,796,864  3,799,943 

Income tax recoverable from a business combination  ‒  (805,586) 

Tax paid during the year   (4,037,042)  (3,602,573) 

     

Balance at end of year  1,294,553  534,731 

 

 
Deferred tax credit 

 

The deferred tax credit is comprised of the following:   

 

  

2025 

$  

2024 

$ 
     

Recognised in consolidated statement of income     

Deferred tax on retirement expense  15,025  359,377 

Deferred tax on unutilized tax losses  7,828  28,450 

Deferred tax on depreciation of property and equipment  4,486  (1,489,638) 

Deferred tax on unutilized capital allowances  (52,013)  (42,620) 
     

  (24,674)  (1,144,431) 
     

Recognised in other comprehensive income     

Effect of change in income tax rate to remeasurement gain on the 

defined benefit obligation  ‒ 

 

(54,067) 

Effect of change in income tax rate to revaluation reserve for 

property  ‒ 

 

(508,876) 
     

  ‒  (562,943) 
     

  (24,674)  (1,707,374) 

 

 

  



S. L. Horsford and Company Limited  
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2025 
 

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 

 

(35) 

17 Taxation …continued 

 
Deferred tax liability 

 
The movement in the deferred tax liability is as follows: 

 

  

2025 

$  

2024 

$ 

     

Balance at beginning of year  5,807,652  6,663,139 

Deferred tax liability assumed through a business combination  ‒  851,887 

Deferred tax credit for the year  (24,674)  (1,707,374) 

     

Balance at end of year  5,782,978  5,807,652 

 

 
Tax losses 

 
In 2021, the Group has incurred an income tax loss amounting to $309,846 which may be carried forward and 

applied to reduce taxable income by an amount not exceeding one half of taxable income in any one year of 

assessment within 5 years following the year in which the loss was incurred. The losses are based on the income 

tax returns, which has not yet been assessed by the Internal Revenue Department. In 2025, the Group incurred 

an additional tax loss amounting to $15,134. Management believes that the tax losses will likely be recovered 

from foreseeable taxable profits.  

 

The movement in unutilised tax losses is as follows: 

 

Taxable year  Beginning of year 

Expired during 

the year 

Incurred/ 

(utilised) during 

the year End of year 
      

2021  – – 309,846 309,846 

2022  309,846 – (91,208) 218,638 

2023  218,638 – (102,526) 116,112 

2024  116,112 – (76,658) 39,454 

2025  39,454 – 15,134 54,588 

 

 

18 Equity 

  
 Share capital 
 

 
2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 

Authorised   

100,000,000 ordinary shares of $1 each 100,000,000 100,000,000 

   
Issued and fully paid   

60,296,860 ordinary shares of $1 each 60,296,860 60,296,860 
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18 Equity …continued 
 

Dividends 

 

On November 13, 2024, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the declaration of interim cash dividends 

amounting to $4,000,000 which was paid on November 21, 2024. The Board of Directors further approved the 

declaration of another cash dividends on May 22, 2025, amounting to $5,322,801 which was paid on May 26, 

2025. The total dividends declared and paid in 2025 amounted to $9,322,801 (2024: $9,151,532). 

 

Dividends of 18.45% (2024: 15.5%) per ordinary share or $11,125,534 (2024: $9,322,708) in respect to the 

2025 financial results has been proposed by the Directors.  The consolidated financial statements as at and for 

the year ended September 30, 2025 do not reflect this proposed dividend which, if approved, will be accounted 

for in equity as an appropriation of retained earnings in the year ending September 30, 2026. 

 

 

19 Earnings per share 
 
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year by the weighted average of ordinary 
shares outstanding during the year adjusted for events other than the issue of bonus shares: 

 

 

 

 

The Group has no dilutive potential ordinary shares as of September 30, 2025 and 2024. 

 

 

20 Reserves 

 

 
2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 
   
Revaluation reserve – property 47,487,708 47,487,708 

Capital reserves 2,250,318 1,854,983 

Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation 506,878 506,878 

Revaluation reserve – financial asset at FVOCI 362,999 286,976 

   
 50,607,903 50,136,545 

 

 

  

 2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 

   

Profit for the year 13,847,242 11,338,388 

   
Weighted average number of outstanding shares 60,296,860 60,296,860 

   
Basic earnings per share 0.23 0.19 
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20 Reserves …continued 
 

Revaluation reserve – property  

 

Movement in revaluation reserve – property is as follows: 

 

 

 2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 

    Balance at beginning of year  47,487,708 46,978,832 
Effect of change in income tax rate on the revaluation 
reserve for property 

 
– 508,876 

    
Balance at end of year  47,487,708 47,487,708 

 

 

Capital reserves 

 

Movement in capital reserves is as follows: 

 

 Note 

2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 

    
Balance at beginning of year  1,854,983 1,893,274 

Share in other comprehensive gains/(losses) of 

associated companies  10 395,335 (38,291) 
    
Balance at end of year  2,250,318 1,854,983 

 

 

Revaluation reserve – financial asset at FVOCI 

 

Movement in revaluation reserve – financial asset at FVOCI is as follows: 

 

 

 Note 

2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 

    Balance at beginning of year  286,976 386,138 

Unrealised fair value gains/(losses) 11 76,023 (99,162) 
    
Balance at end of year  362,999 286,976 

 

 

Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation 

 

The remeasurement gain on defined benefit obligation as at September 30, 2025 amounted to $506,878 (2024: 

$506,878) represents the net actuarial gain as a result of changes in financial assumptions and experience 

adjustments, net of deferred tax. The Group recognised the effect of change in income tax rate to 

remeasurement gain on the defined benefit obligation amounting to $nil (2024: $54,067). 
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21 Other income 

 

  
2025 

$ 
2024 

$ 
    Interest  3,727,924 3,528,590 

Rent and lease income  3,071,559 3,008,340 

Servicing and other related income  2,202,340 2,105,432 

Commissions  1,333,754 1,202,350 
Trucking revenue  408,327 355,155 
Gain on sale of property and equipment  136,959 249,268 
Miscellaneous  119,587 87,145 
    
  11,000,450 10,536,280 

 

 

22 Employment costs 

 
a) Details of employment costs are presented below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
b) Defined benefit plan  

 

The Group maintains a partially funded and non-contributory post-employment defined benefit plan 

covering all full-time employees. 

 

In 2023, the Group engaged the services of an independent actuary to determine the retirement benefit 

costs and obligation. The amounts presented below and in the succeeding pages were derived based on the 

actuarial valuation report obtained from an independent actuary. 

 

 

 

  

 2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 

   

Salaries and other staff cost 23,478,542 21,305,586 

Post-employment defined benefit 194,402 435,424 
   

 23,672,944 21,741,010 



S. L. Horsford and Company Limited  
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2025 
 

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 

 

(39) 

22 Employment costs …continued 
 

b)  Defined benefit plan …continued 

 

The movements in the present value of the post-employment defined benefit obligation recognised in the 

books are as follows: 
 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

  
 

The movements in the fair value of plan assets are presented below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

The retirement benefit obligation as at September 30, is classified in the consolidated statement of financial 

position as follows: 
 

 

 

The current portion of these liabilities represents the Group’s obligations to its current and former 

employees that are expected to be settled during the next 12 months.  As none of the employees are eligible 

for early settlement of pension arrangements, the remaining part of pension obligations for defined benefit 

plans is considered non-current. 
 

 

  

 
2025 

$ 
2024 

$ 
   

Balance at beginning of year 4,687,569 4,476,377 
Interest cost 329,870 321,161 
Current service cost (135,468) 114,263 
Benefit payments (247,237) (224,232) 

   Balance at end of year 4,634,734 4,687,569 

 2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 

   

Balance at beginning of year ‒ ‒ 

Employer contributions 247,237 224,232 

Benefit payments (247,237) (224,232) 

   Balance at end of year ‒ ‒ 

 2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 

   Current 344,742 344,742 

Non-current 4,289,992 4,342,827 

    4,634,734 4,687,569 
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22 Employment costs …continued 
 

b)  Defined benefit plan …continued 

 

The components of amounts recognised in consolidated statement of income in respect of the defined 

benefit post-employment plan are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

In determining the amounts of the post-employment benefit obligation, the following significant 

assumptions were used: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

23 Commitments and contingencies 
 

a) Letters of credit 

 

At the year end, the Group had outstanding letters of credit totaling $400,000 (2024: $400,000). 

 

b) Guarantees 

 

The Group provides guarantees to certain financial institutions in connection with credit facilities 

extended to subsidiaries and associated company in the range of $2,000,000 to $3,000,000. 

  

 2025 

$ 

2024 

$ 
   

Recognised in profit or loss   

   Interest cost 329,870 321,161 

Current service cost (135,468) 114,263 

    194,402 435,424 

 2025 2024 

   
Discount rate 7.50% 7.50% 

Expected rate of future salary increase rates 5.50% 5.50% 

Future inflationary salary increase rate 0.00% 0.00% 

Future increase in the Social Security Board ceilings for 

earnings 2.00% 2.00% 



S. L. Horsford and Company Limited  
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2025 
 

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 

 

(41) 

24 Financial risk management 

  
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, 

interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group has not entered forward contracts to 

reduce risk exposures. The Group’s risk management focuses on actively seeking to minimise potential 

adverse effects on its financial performance.  
 

The Group’s risk management is coordinated by its Board of Directors and focuses on actively securing the 

Group’s short to medium-term cash flows by minimising the exposure to financial markets.  Long-term 

financial investments are managed to generate lasting returns. 

 

The Group does not actively engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative purposes nor does it write 

options. The most significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed are described in the current and 

succeeding pages. 

  
a) Market risk 

 

i) Foreign currency risk 

 

The Company conducts its operations primarily in Eastern Caribbean dollars; however, some 

transactions are executed in various other currencies, mainly United States Dollars. Foreign currency 

risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities are denominated 

in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. The exchange rate of the Eastern Caribbean 

dollar (EC$) to the United States dollar (US$) has been formally pegged at EC$2.70 = US$1.00 since 

July 1976, hence management considers foreign currency risk to be insignificant. 

 

Substantially all of the Group’s transactions and assets and liabilities are denominated in Eastern 

Caribbean Dollars or United States Dollars. Therefore, the Group has no significant exposure to 

currency risk. 

 

ii) Interest rate risk 

 

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from interest bearing liabilities held with financial 

institutions with respect to bank overdrafts and borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates 

expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group 

to fair value interest rate risk. The bank overdrafts and the borrowings bear fixed interest rate of 3.5% 

to 6% (2024: 4.5% to 6%), which expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. To manage interest 

rate risk, the Group negotiates the best rates possible and where possible considers factors such as 

refinancing, reviewing options and alternative financing. 

 

Management does not believe significant interest rate risk exists at September 30, 2025. If interest 

rates on the Group’s financial instruments were 1% higher or 1% lower with all other variables held 

constant, the impact on consolidated profit for the year would have been insignificant. 
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24 Financial risk management …continued 

 
a) Market risk …continued 

 

iii) Price risk 

 

The Group is exposed to price risk in respect to its investment securities classified on the consolidated 

statement of financial position as FVTPL and FVOCI (note 11). The Group’s FVOCI – equity 

securities include securities that are quoted on the Eastern Caribbean Securities Exchange, and its 

exposure to equity securities price risk is not material because the total of these securities is 

insignificant in relation to its consolidated statement of financial position and because of the limited 

volatility in this market.  The FVTPL – debt securities include corporate bonds that are actively traded 

in the market. If market prices as at September 30, 2025 had been 10% higher/lower with all other 

variables held constant, profit or loss and retained earnings would have changed by $1,176,832 (2024: 

$904,508). 

 

b) Credit risk 

 

Credit risk arises from cash, contractual cash flows of financial assets carried at amortised cost as well as 

credit exposure to customers, including outstanding receivables.     

 

The credit risk in respect of cash balances with banks and deposits with banks are managed via 

diversification of bank deposits and are only with major reputable financial institutions. 

 

The Group has made adequate allowance for impairment for any potential credit losses and the amount of 

the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is indicated by the carrying amount of its financial assets. 
 

  

2025 

$ 

 2024 

$ 

     

Cash at banks  5,161,217  5,601,998 

Receivables  26,949,802  29,093,442 
     
  32,111,019  34,695,440 

 

 

The Group continuously monitors the credit quality of its customers.  Credit checks are performed for all 

credit customers.  The Group’s policy is to deal only with credit worthy counterparties.  The Group’s 

credit term is 30 days.  The credit terms for customers as negotiated with customers are subject to an 

internal approval process which considers the credit worthiness of the customers.  The ongoing credit risk 

is managed through regular review of aging analysis, together with credit limits per customer. 

 

Receivables consist of a large number of individual customers. 
 
Expected credit loss measurement  
 

IFRS 9 outlines a ‘three-stage’ model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial 

recognition as summarised below: 
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24 Financial risk management …continued 

 
b)  Credit risk …continued 

 
Expected credit loss measurement …continued 
 

• A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in ‘Stage 1’ and 

has its credit risk continuously monitored by the Group. 

• If a significant increase in credit risk (‘SICR’) since initial recognition is identified, the financial 

instrument is moved to ‘Stage 2’ but it is not yet deemed to be credit-impaired.  

• If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then moved to ‘Stage 3’.  

• Financial instruments in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the portion of 

lifetime expected credit losses that result from default events possible within the next 12 months.  

• Instruments in Stages 2 or 3 have their ECL measured based on expected credit losses on a lifetime 

basis.  

• A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should consider forward 

looking information.  

 

The following diagram summarises the impairment requirements under IFRS 9 (other than purchased or 

originated credit-impaired financial assets): 

 

 Change in credit quality since initial recognition 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 

Risk Assessment Initial recognition or 

credit risk is 

considered low 

Significant increase in 

credit risk since initial 

recognition 

Credit-impaired 

assets 

Expected credit 

losses 

12-month expected 

credit losses 

Lifetime expected credit 

losses 

Lifetime expected 

credit losses 

 
Receivables 
 

The Group applies IFRS 9 simplified model of recognising lifetime expected credit losses for receivables 

as these items do not have a significant financing component. 

 

To measure the ECL, receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the 

days past due (age buckets).  The Group has therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for 

receivables are a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the other assets. 

 

The expected credit loss rates are based on the payment and or collection profile for receivables over the 

last 48 months before September 30, 2025 and October 1, 2024, respectively, as well as the 

corresponding historical credit losses during the period.  The historical rates are adjusted to reflect 

current and forward looking macro economic factors affecting the customer’s ability to settle the amount 

outstanding.   
 

Receivables are written-off (e.i. derecognised) when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.  

Failure to make payments within 120 days from the policy date and failure to engage with the Group on 

alternative payment arrangement amongst other is considered indicators of no reasonable expectation of 

recovery.  
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24 Financial risk management …continued 

 
b)  Credit risk …continued 

 
Expected credit loss measurement …continued 
 
Receivables …continued 
 

On the above basis, the expected credit loss for receivables as at September 30, was determined as 

follows: 

 

 Receivables ECL Staging 

 Stage 1 

$ 

Stage 2 

$ 

Stage 3 

$ 

Total 

$ 
     
September 30, 2025     
     
Gross carrying amount 24,966,579 995,349 5,078,984 31,040,912 

Expected credit loss rate 0.10% 12.22% 89.39%  
     
Loss allowance 25,734 121,630 4,540,057 4,687,421 
     

September 30, 2024     
     
Gross carrying amount 22,628,568 1,058,931 5,148,394 28,835,893 

Expected credit loss rate 0.13% 12.29% 88.58%  
     
Loss allowance 30,146 130,171 4,560,337 4,720,654 

 

The closing balance of the receivables loss allowance as at September 30, reconciles with the receivables 

loss allowance opening balance (see note 6). 
 
Sundry receivables 
 
Other receivables are financial assets measured at amortised cost and considered to have low credit risk.  
There is no impairment allowance for these other financial assets as the counterparties have access to 
sufficient highly liquid assets in order to repay the receivables, if demanded at the reporting date.  

 

c) Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group might be unable to meet its obligations. The Group manages its 
liquidity needs by monitoring scheduled debt servicing payments for long-term financial liabilities as 
well as forecasts of cash inflows and outflows due in day-to-day business. The data used for analysing 
these cash flows is consistent with that used in the contractual maturity analysis below. Liquidity needs 
are monitored in various time bands, on a day-to-day and week-to-week basis, as well as on the basis of 
a rolling 30-day projection. Long-term liquidity needs for a 180-day and a 360-day lookout period are 
identified monthly. Net cash requirements are compared to available borrowing facilities in order to 
determine headroom or any shortfalls. This analysis shows that available borrowing facilities are 
expected to be sufficient over the lookout period. 
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24 Financial risk management …continued 
 

c) Liquidity risk …continued 
 

The Group’s objective is to maintain cash to meet its liquidity requirements for 30-day periods at a 
minimum. This objective was met for the reporting periods. Funding for long-term liquidity needs is 
additionally secured by an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.  

 
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the 
remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the 
table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.  

 

 Within 1  

year 

$ 

     Between  
1 and 5 years 

$ 

More than 

5 years 

$ 

Total 

$ 

     As at September 30, 2025     

     
Borrowings 6,754,634 8,510,822 15,407,315 30,672,771 

Trade and other payables 22,072,227 ‒ ‒ 22,072,227 

Defined benefit obligation 344,742 1,378,968 2,911,024 4,634,734 

     
 29,171,603 9,889,790 18,318,339 57,379,732 

     As at September 30, 2024     

     
Borrowings 8,360,406 9,264,878 22,776,158 40,401,442 

Trade and other payables 24,148,526 ‒ ‒ 24,148,526 

Defined benefit obligation 344,742 1,378,968 2,963,859 4,687,569 

      32,853,674 10,643,846 25,740,017 69,237,537 

 

 
d) Fair value of financial assets  

 
Fair value is the arm’s length consideration for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled, 
between knowledgeable, willing parties, who are under no compulsion to act and is best evidenced by a 
quoted market price, if one exists. 

 
Determination of fair value 
The following methods and assumptions have been used to estimate the fair value of each class of 
financial instruments for which it is practical to estimate a value: 
 
Short-term financial assets and liabilities 
The carrying value of these financial assets and liabilities is a reasonable estimate of their fair value 
because of the short maturity of these instruments. Short-term financial assets are comprised of cash on 
hand and at banks and receivables.  Short-term financial liabilities are comprised of current portion of 
borrowings, trade and other payables and current portion of defined benefit obligation.  

 
Long-term financial assets 
Long-term financial assets classified as financial assets at amortised cost whose maturities are greater 
than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. 
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24 Financial risk management …continued 
 

d) Fair value of financial assets …continued 
 
Financial liabilities 
The estimated fair value of fixed-interest bearing financial liabilities not quoted in an active market is 
based on discounted cash flows using interest rates for new debts with similar remaining maturity. 
 
The table below summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial assets and 
liabilities: 
 

 Carrying value Fair value 

 2025  2024  2025  2024 

 $  $  $  $ 
Financial assets        
        
Cash 5,212,884  5,657,100  5,212,884  5,657,100 
Receivables 26,949,802  29,093,442  26,949,802  29,093,442 
        
 32,162,686  34,750,542  32,162,686  34,750,542 

        
Financial liabilities        
        
Borrowings 30,672,771  32,818,336  30,672,771  32,818,336 
Trade and other payables 22,072,227  24,148,526  22,072,227  24,148,526 
Defined benefit obligation 4,634,734  4,687,569  4,634,734  4,687,569 

        
 57,379,732  61,654,431  57,379,732  61,654,431 

 

 

e) Fair value hierarchy 
 
IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation 
techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from 
independent sources; unobservable inputs reflect the Company’s market assumptions. These two types of 
inputs have created the following fair value hierarchy: 

 
– Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities. This level includes 

equity securities and debt instruments listed on exchanges. 
– Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset 

or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices). 
– Level 3: Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data. This 

level includes 
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24 Financial risk management …continued 
 

e) Fair value hierarchy …continued 
 
Fair value measurement of financial assets 
 
The hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available.  The Group considers relevant 
and observable market prices in valuations where possible. 
 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
  $  $  $  $ 
     

Financial assets 2025     
     

FVTPL – debt securities 13,750,056 ‒ ‒ 13,750,056 
FVOCI – equity securities ‒ 463,479 1 463,480 

     
Investment securities 13,750,056 463,479 1 14,213,536 
     
Financial assets 2024     
FVTPL – debt securities 9,099,362 ‒ ‒ 9,099,362 
FVOCI – equity securities ‒ 387,456 1 387,457 
     
Investment securities 9,099,362 387,456 1 9,486,819 

 
 
There were no transfers between levels 1, 2, or 3 fair values during the year.  
 
Fair value measurement of non-financial assets 
 
The following table shows the Levels within the hierarchy of non-financial assets measured at fair value 
on a recurring basis at September 30: 
 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

  $  $  $  $ 
     

Land and buildings – 2025 – 39,362,500 53,454,645 92,817,145 
     

Land and buildings – 2024 – 39,362,500 54,685,389 94,047,889 

 
There were no transfers between levels 1, 2, or 3 fair values during the year.  
 

Fair value of the Group’s main property assets is estimated based on appraisals performed by independent, 
professionally-qualified property appraisers. The significant inputs and assumptions are developed in 
close consultation with management.  The valuation processes and fair value changes are reviewed by the 
Board of Directors at each reporting date. 
 
The appraisal was carried out using a market approach that reflects observed prices for recent market 
transactions for similar properties and incorporates adjustments for factors specific to the land in question, 
including plot size, location and current use. 
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24 Financial risk management …continued 
 

e) Fair value hierarchy …continued 

 
Land and buildings were revalued in September 2021 and difference between the carrying amounts of 
land and buildings and the fair values are recognised as a revaluation surplus in the revaluation reserve – 
property under equity (see note 20). 

 
 

 

f) Capital management objectives 

 
The Group maintains a level of capital that is sufficient to meet several objectives, including an acceptable 
total debt-to-capital ratio to provide access to adequate funding sources to support current operations and 
fulfilment of its strategic plan.  
 
The Group’s capital is represented by its equity.  As at September 30, 2025, the Group’s equity amounted 
to $169,193,432 (2024: $164,197,633). 
 
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in activities, economic 
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust its capital 
structure, the company may issue new shares, repurchase shares for cancellation or sell assets to reduce 
debt. 

 

 

25 Segment reporting 
  

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Board of Directors 

that are used to make strategic decisions. Segment performance is evaluated based on revenue and profit or 

loss before tax and is measured consistently with profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.  Refer 

to further details in note 4(e). 
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25 Segment reporting …continued 
 

Segment information for the reporting period is as follows: 
 

2025 

Durable 

 goods 

$ 

Automotive 

$ 

Consumable 

 goods 

$ 

Others 

$ 

Unallocated/ 

head office 

$ 

 

Eliminations 

$ 

Total 

$ 

        
External sales 86,528,500 26,024,836 83,229,614 – – (9,117,950) 186,665,000 

Other income 1,928,465 5,125,981 43,806 3,902,198 – – 11,000,450 
 

       
Total revenue 88,456,965 31,150,817 83,273,420 3,902,198 – (9,117,950) 197,665,450 

        
Operating profit before finance charges 10,061,870 3,346,628 2,273,106 1,513,818 – – 17,195,422 

Finance charges (1,037,788) – – – – – (1,037,788) 

        
Profit before results of associated 

companies 9,024,082 3,346,628 2,273,106 1,513,818 – – 16,157,634 

Share of income of associated 

companies 1,205,487 – 1,258,329 (2,018) – – 2,461,798 

        
Operating results before taxation 10,229,569 3,346,628 3,531,435 1,511,800 – – 18,619,432 

        
Taxation       (4,772,190) 

        
Net income after taxation       13,847,242 

        
Operating assets 91,744,816 42,071,643 33,519,732 15,459,357 76,199,957 (44,372,564) 214,622,941 

        
Investment in associates 9,754,276 – 8,831,736 441,742 – – 19,027,754 

        
Total consolidated assets 101,499,092 42,071,643 42,351,468 15,901,099 76,199,957 (44,372,564) 233,650,695 

        
Total liabilities 38,682,834 2,827,280 10,492,766 7,947,604 26,528,539 (22,021,760) 64,457,263 

        
Capital expenditure 568,411 1,318,102 1,444,933 11,778 595,280 – 3,938,504 

Depreciation and amortisation 1,520,471 990,558 1,326,865 364,367 – – 4,202,261 
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25 Segment reporting …continued 
 

2024 

Durable 

goods 

$ 

Automotive 

$ 

Consumable 

goods 

$ 

Others 

$ 

Unallocated/ 

head office 

$ 

 

Eliminations 

$ 

Total 

$ 

        
External sales 69,314,363 21,541,413 80,424,697 – – (9,366,050) 161,914,423 

Other income 1,858,681 5,086,814 7,645 3,583,140 – – 10,536,280 

        
Total revenue 71,173,044 26,628,227 80,432,342 3,583,140 – (9,366,050) 172,450,703 

        
Operating profit before finance charges 7,244,257 2,955,272 1,340,689 1,300,589 – – 12,840,807  

Finance charges (212,590) – – (60,057) – – (272,647) 

        
Profit before results of associated 

companies 7,031,667 2,955,272 1,340,689 1,240,532 – – 12,568,160 

Share of income of associated 

companies 597,959 – 713,263 114,518 – – 1,425,740 

        
Operating results before taxation 7,629,626 2,955,272 2,053,952 1,355,050 – – 13,993,900 

        
Taxation       (2,655,512) 

        
Net income after taxation       11,338,388 

        
Operating assets 93,184,544 42,098,774 32,258,518 15,236,334 70,143,459 (38,637,893) 214,283,736 

Investment in associates 8,903,458 – 8,563,497 443,756 – – 17,910,711 

        
Total consolidated assets 102,088,002 42,098,774 40,822,015 15,680,090 70,143,459 (38,637,893) 232,194,447 

        
Total consolidated liabilities 41,773,719 2,292,044 9,556,347 8,262,279 22,399,515 (16,287,090) 67,996,814 

        
Capital expenditure 1,226,564 1,984,412 795,004 176,968 536,628 – 4,719,576 

        
Depreciation and amortisation 1,432,255 1,012,098 1,301,070 384,693 – – 4,130,116 



S. L. Horsford and Company Limited  
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2025 
 

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 

 

(51) 

25 Segment reporting …continued 
 

The geographical market of the Group’s revenue in 2025 and 2024 is primarily within St. Kitts and Nevis. 

 

The totals presented above for the Group’s operating segments reconcile to the key financial figures as 

presented in the consolidated statement of income. 

 


